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FIELD HEARING ON IMPROVING THE FEDERAL
BLACK LUNG BENEFITS PROGRAM

MONDAY, JUNE 21, 1993

House of Representatives,
Committee on Education and Labor,

Subcommittee on Labor Standards,
Occupational Health and Safety

Pottsville, PA.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 11:50 a.m., in the

Schuylkill County Courthouse, Pottsville, Pennsylvania, Hon.
Austin J. Murphy, Chairman, presiding.
Members present: Representatives Murphy and Fawell.
Chairman Murphy. I am Congressman Austin Murphy from

Western Pennsylvania. I chair the Subcommittee on Labor Stand-

ards, Occupational Health and Safety in the United States Con-

gress, which is one of the six subcommittees of the Education and
Labor Committee. We are joined today with Congressman Harris
Fawell from Illinois.

Today the Subcommittee on Labor Standards, Occupational
Health and Safety convenes in Pottsville, Pennsylvania, to tackle
the tough issue of improving the Federal Black Lung Benefits Pro-

gram. For the majority of us here today, this problem is something
beyond mere statistics. I have met many people suffering from this

disease when travelling in my district, and have listened to the sto-

ries of unending frustration and ultimate rejection during the ben-
efit application process. I have heard the fear in a widow's voice

when she describes the government's efforts to reclaim thousands
of dollars in benefits used for years in her monthly income. These

people know that something is wrong with the system.
This session caps 3 years of efforts by our subcommittee. Our

hearings were held in West Virginia, Kentucky, Alabama, Illinois

and in Pennsylvania as well, and it has provided us with experi-
ence, and the personal insight into the lives of those suffering from
Black Lung. Our hearings have convinced me that miners and
their families believe the administrators of the Black Lung Pro-

gram over the last decade have forgotten that the government is

here to help them.
For too many people, the government has become their adver-

sary. Many miners have told me about the painful and humiliating
physical examinations ordered by the Department of Labor. I re-

member one miner in particular who spoke about how he and his

wife watched as the government took most of their life savings as a

repayment for the interim benefits reducing them to poverty. The
(1)



authors of this program would never believe that any of this is

happening today.
Witnesses have repeatedly expressed frustration with a system

that seems to ignore those it was meant to help. I have heard testi-

mony from many people and have been moved by the suffering of
those denied benefits.

Currently, the Department of Labor initially approves less than
5 percent of the claims with the approvals for widows and depend-
ents being even less. Black Lung benefits were intended by Con-

gress as a means of support for miners broken by years of coal
mine service. Changes in the Black Lung Program instituted by
Congress and President Reagan in 1982 were ostensibly aimed at

saving money. Unfortunately, what little savings the government
may have accrued were gained at the expense of suffering by Black

Lung victims. With the election of President Clinton, I hope we will

soon have promising news for many retired miners suffering with
Black Lung disease.

I want to commend my colleague Tim Holden for his interest in

the lives of his constituents who suffer from Black Lung and their

families. He will be a sound and capable advocate for any Black

Lung case that you may have.
I want to thank our witnesses for agreeing to testify this morn-

ing.

[The prepared statement of Hon. Austin J. Murphy follows:]

Statement of Hon. Austin J. Murphy, a Representative in Congress from the
State of Pennsylvania

Today the Subcommittee on Labor Standards, Occupational Health and Safety
once again convenes to tackle the tough issue of improving the Federal Black Lung
Benefits Program. For the majority of us here today, this problem is something
beyond mere statistics. I have met many people suffering from this disease when
traveling in my district, and listened to the stories of unending frustration and ulti-

mate rejection during the benefit application process. I have heard the fear in a
widow's voice when she describes the government's efforts to reclaim thousands of

dollars in benefits used for years in her monthly income. These people know that

something is wrong with the system.
This session caps 3 years of effort by the subcommittee on the subject of Black

Lung. Our hearings in West Virginia, Kentucky, Alabama, and Illinois have provid-
ed us with experience and personal insight into the lives of those suffering from
Black Lung.
Our hearings have convinced me that miners and their families believe the ad-

ministrators of the Black Lung Program over the last decade have forgotten that
the government is there to help them. For too many people the government has
become the adversary. Many miners have told me about painful and humiliating
physical examinations ordered by the Department of Labor. I remember one miner
in particular who spoke about how he and his wife watched as the government took
most of their life savings as a repayment for interim benefits reducing them to near

poverty. The authors of this program would never believe that any of this is happen-
ing today.
Witnesses have repeatedly expressed frustration with a system that seems to

ignore those it was meant to support. I have heard testimony from many people,
and I have been moved by the suffering of those denied benefits. Currently, the De-

partment of Labor initially approves approximately 5 percent of claims, with the

approvals for widows and dependents being even lower.

Black Lung benefits were intended by Congress as a means of support for miners
broken by years of coal mine service. Changes in the Black Lung Program instituted

by Ronald Reagan in 1982 were ostensibly aimed at saving money. Unfortunately,
what little savings the government may have accrued, were gained at the expense of

suffering victims of Black Lung.



With the election of President Clinton, I hope we will soon have promising news
for many retired miners suffering with Black Lung disease. I want to commend my
colleague Tim Holden, for his interest in the lives of the victims of Black Lung. He
will be a sound and capable advocate for any Black Lung case that you may have. I

also want to thank our witnesses for agreeing to testify this morning.

Chairman Murphy. With that, I will introduce Congressman
Fawell of Illinois.

Mr. Fawell, do you have an opening statement?

STATEMENT OF HON. HARRIS W. FAWELL, A REPRESENTATIVE
IN CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF ILLINOIS

Mr. Fawell. Yes, I do. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
It is good to be in this area for the first time. I come from Illinois

in the Chicagoland suburban area where we are all rejoicing over
the Chicago Bulls having won the basketball championship.
Mr. Chairman, I am pleased to join you at this hearing on Black

Lung. I am sorry that our colleagues on the subcommittee were
unable to join us today, but I hope that the Chairman will consider

holding another hearing in Washington so that we can fully exam-
ine the effects of H.R. 2101 on the Black Lung Benefits Program.

All of us are certainly committed to responsible stewardship of
the Black Lung Benefits Program and with its basic purpose, which
is to provide, of course, payments to disabled miners based on a

showing of employment related medical disability.
I am, however, a bit concerned that H.R. 2108 would move

beyond congressional intent, perhaps, concerning the Black Lung
Benefits Program. We have to remember that this program began
as almost an afterthought to the passage of the Federal Coal Mine
Safety and Health Act of 1969. It was intended to be a temporary
program of limited size and cost and duration designed to compen-
sate for disability and death due to occupational exposure to coal
mine dust.

Part C of the program was modelled after a traditional workers'

compensation system with employers funding benefits. The entire

responsibility for compensation to victims of Black Lung was ex-

pected to fall on the States, but for a number of reasons that has
not happened.
No State has ever been certified as providing equivalent eligibil-

ity criteria and benefits, nor does the Act as currently written pro-
vide an incentive for a State to seek such certification. Significant
offsetting entitlement remain rare outside the States of Kentucky
and Pennsylvania and West Virginia.
This bill seeks to reinstate for certain classes of claimants vari-

ous versions of the previously used presumptions for determining
eligibility, but the program's history demonstrates that such
changes would mire the program even more deeply in debt.

In 1990, the General Accounting Office found that the medical
criteria used in processing claims to be reasonable and appropriate.
However, twice in the past history of the program, in 1972 and in

1977, frustrations over delays in claims processing and low rates of

approval led to dramatic liberalizations of eligibility criteria, and
unexpected increases in its costs.

As we consider changes to the program, we cannot ignore the

budgetary impact of those changes, of course, on our budget in



Washington, despite a doubling of the coal tax rates in 1981, a 10

percent increase several years later, and $1.5 billion bailout in

1986, the trust fund is presently $3.6 billion in debt. Because the
bill currently includes no offsetting revenue provisions, as I under-
stand it, these costs would be borne by the general public through
increased revenue or reductions in other direct spending programs
as prescribed in the Budget Enforcement Act.

Again, I hope, Mr. Chairman, that you will consider holding an-
other hearing in Washington on H.R. 2108 prior to any subcommit-
tee action on the bill, and I look forward, certainly, to hearing the

testimony from the witnesses and our colleague Congressman Tim
Holden.
Thank you very much.
[The prepared statement of Hon. Harris W. Fawell follows:]

Statement of Hon. Harris W. Fawell, a Representative in Congress from the
State of Illinois

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I am pleased to join you at this hearing on Black

Lung. I am sorry that our colleagues on the subcommittee were unable to join us

today, but I hope that the Chairman will consider holding another hearing in Wash-
ington so that we can properly examine the effects of H.R. 2101 on the Black Lung
Benefits Program.

All of us are certainly committed to responsible stewardship of the Black Lung
Benefits Program and with its basic purpose, which is to provide payments to dis-

abled miners based on a clear showing of employment-related medical disability. I

am, however, concerned that H.R. 2108 would move far beyond congressional intent

concerning the Black Lung Benefits Program. We must remember that this pro-

gram began as almost an afterthought to the passage of the Federal Coal Mine
Safety and Health Act of 1969. It was intended to be a temporary program of limit-

ed size, cost and duration—designed to compensate for disability and death due to

occupational exposure to coal mine dust. Part C of the program was modeled after a
traditional workers' compensation system, with employers funding benefits. The
entire responsibility for compensation to victims of Black Lung was expected to fall

on the States. But, for a number of reasons, this never happened.
No State has ever been certified as providing equivalent eligibility criteria and

benefits, nor does the Act, as currently written, provide any incentive for a State to

seek such certification. Significant offsetting entitlements remain rare outside the
States of Kentucky, Pennsylvania, and West ^'^irginia.

This bill seeks to reinstate, for certain classes of claimants, various versions of the

previously-used presumptions for determining eligibility. But this program's history
demonstrates that such changes would mire the program even more deeply in debt.

In 1990, the General Accounting Office found the medical criteria used in processing
claims to be reasonable and appropriate. However, twice in the past history of the

program—in 1972 and 1977—frustrations over delays in claims processing and low
rates of approval led to dramatic liberalizations of eligibility criteria and unexpect-
ed increases in its costs.

As we consider changes to the program, we cannot ignore the budgetary impact of

those changes. Despite a doubling of the coal tax rates in 1981, a 10 percent increase

several years later, and a $1.5 billion bailout in 1986, the Trust Fund is presently
$3.6 billion in debt. Because the bill currently includes no offsetting revenue provi-

sions, these costs would be borne by the general public through increased revenue
or reductions in other direct spending programs, as prescribed in the Budget En-
forcement Act.

Again, I hope that the Chairman will consider holding a hearing in Washington
on H.R. 2108 prior to any subcommittee action on the bill, and I look forward to

hearing the testimony from the witnesses and our colleague. Congressman Tim
Holden.

Chairman Murphy. Thank you, Mr. Fawell.
With that, Congressman Holden, we thank you for inviting our

committee to Pottsville of Schuylkill County today and you prom-



ised me sunshine. What happened? You said the sun always shines
in Pottsville.

Mr. HoLDEN. You can never tell about the fog, though, Mr.
Chairman. Sorry about that.

Chairman Murphy. Tim, I know that we have invited you to sit

with the committee today, and would appreciate if we would have
your statement first, and then you join us on the rostrum.
You may proceed.

STATEMENT OF HON. TIM HOLDEN, A REPRESENTATIVE IN
CONGRESS FROM THE STATE OF PENNSYLVANIA

Mr. HoLDEN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Fawell, welcome to Pottsville.

I have a brief statement, Mr. Chairman, I would like to submit
for the record, if I may?
Chairman Murphy. Without objection, the entire statement will

be submitted to the record.
Mr. HoLDEN. I would like to thank you, and Mr. Fawell, the

Ranking Member of the House Education and Labor Subcommittee
on Labor Standards, Occupational Health and Safety for holding
this very important hearing.

I would like to welcome you to Schuylkill County and to the
Sixth District of Pennsylvania. I would especially like to thank
you. Chairman Murphy, for your commitment to helping the
former miners suffering from Anthrasilicosis, more commonly
known as Black Lung Disease. I am very pleased that you are

working to forge a solution to the problems in the Black Lung Pro-

gram.
I deeply appreciate you coming to Pottsville to hear from the

people who the Black Lung Program most strongly affects. I have
heard many complaints from my constituents who feel the present
system simply does not work adequately. Too often government is

too distant and too impersonal to hear the words of the people. You
and your subcommittee are giving a forum and a voice to the

people who suffer from the effects of Black Lung and are having
problems with the system which is supposed to help them.

I think that the testimony that you will hear today will aid you
and the committee as you consider changes to the Black Lung Pro-

gram. As you well know, there are many Americans who have
worked in the coal mines and now suffer because of their exposure
to coal dust.

For generations in Schuylkill County, anthracite mining has not

just been an occupation, it has been a way of life. My own great-

grandfather, John Siney, was a coal miner and one of the founders
of the Workmen's Benevolent Association which was the forerun-
ner to the United Mine Workers.
Coal mining has played an integral role in the development of

Pennsylvania and Schuylkill County. Coal was also very important
to the expansion of the American economy. Thousands of miners

literally gave their lives to the coal industry, and all the survivors
ask for is fair treatment in light of the sacrifices they have made.
The Federal Coal Mine Health and Safety Act was passed in 1969

to help these people, and since then a number of amendments have
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been made to try to improve it. Notwithstanding past changes in

the program, problems still remain. I have heard the anguished
words of many residents of my district who suffer from Black

Lung. We need to revise the Black Lung Program so that it will be
more accessible and responsive to the people that it is designed to

help. We need to revise the system so that the people who are truly
entitled will receive benefits, while people with fraudulent claims
will be weeded out of the system.

I think that everyone in Schuylkill County knows someone who
suffers from Black Lung. They are our friends, our relatives and
our neighbors. We have all seen the frustration which results from
the present system. I have over 100 constituents who presently
have unresolved Black Lung cases. Many of these people have been
in the system for years and will not have a resolution to their case

any time soon. All they ask for is compassion, fairness and a timely
hearing.
Mr. Chairman, I greatly appreciate your efforts to forge a legisla-

tive solution to the problems with the Black Lung Program. With
the passage of the Federal Coal Mine Health and Safety Act of

1969, the government made a promise to help the former miners

suffering from Black Lung. Unfortunately, I do not believe that ob-

ligation has been fully achieved.
Mr. Chairman, I would like to again thank you and Mr. Fawell

for coming here today to hear the testimony of my constituents. In

my 6 months as a Member of Congress, I have learned a great deal

about the relationship between our government and the people it is

supposed to serve. Although, in some cases, the government is not
as responsive to the people as it should be, I believe that we have
an opportunity here to truly help a group of working Americans
who have earned our respect and our assistance.

Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
[The prepared statement of Hon. Tim Holden follows:]

Statement of Hon. Tim Holden, a Representative in Congress from the State
OF Pennsylvania

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would Hke to thank you and Mr. Fawell, the Rank-

ing Member of the House Education and Labor Subcommittee on Labor Standards,

Occupational Health and Safety for holding this very important hearing. I would
like to welcome you to Schuylkill County and the Sixth District. I would especially
like to thank you, Chairman Murphy, for your commitment to helping the former
miners suffering from Pneumoconiosis, more commonly known as black lung dis-

ease. I am very pleased that you are working to forge a solution to the problems in

the Black Lung Program.
I deeply appreciate your coming to Pottsville to hear from the people who the

Black Lung Program most strongly affects. I have heard many complaints from my
constituents, who feel that the present system simply does not work adequately.
Too often, government is too distant and too impersonal to hear the words of the

people. You and your subcommittee are giving a forum and a voice to the people
who suffer from the effects of Black Lung, and are having problems with the system
which is supposed to help them. I think that the testimony which you will hear

today will aid you and the committee as you consider changes to the Black Lung
Program.
As you well know, there are many Americans who have worked in coal mines and

now suffer because of their exposure to coal dust. For generations in Schuylkill

County, anthracite mining has not just been an occupation, it has been a way of life.

My own great-grandfather was a coal miner here and was a founders of the Miners

Benevolent Association. Coal mining has played an integral role in the development
of Pennsylvania and Schuylkill County. Coal was also very important to the expan-



sion of our American economy. Thousands of miners literally gave their lives to the
coal industry. And all that the survivors ask, is for fair treatment in light of the
sacrifices they have made.
The Federal Coal Mine Health and Safety Act was passed in 1969 to help these

people, and since then, a number of amendments have been made to try to improve
it. Notwithstanding past changes to the program, problems still remain. I have
heard the anguished words of many residents of my district who suffer from black

lung. We need to revise the Black Lung Program so that it will be more accessible

and responsive to those people it is designed to help. We need to revise the system
so that people who are truly entitled will receive benefits, while people with fraudu-

lent claims will be weeded out by the system.
I think that everyone in Schuylkill County knows someone who suffers from black

lung. They are our friends, our relatives and our neighbors. We have all seen the
frustration which results from the present system. I have over 100 constituents who
presently have unresolved black lung cases. Many of these people have been in the

system for many years and will not have a resolution to their case any time soon.

All they ask for is compassion, fairness and a timely hearing.
Mr. Chairman, I greatly appreciate your efforts to forge a legislative solution to

the problems with the Black Lung Program. With the passage of the Federal Coal
Mine Health and Safety Act of 1969, the government made a promise to help the

former miners suffering from black lung. Unfortunately, I do not believe that obli-

gation has been fully achieved.
Mr. Chairman, I would like to again thank you and Mr. Fawell for coming here

today to hear the testimony of my constituents. Anyone who has seen the suffering
of a former miner with black lung realizes the importance of this program. In my 6

months as a Member of Congress, I have learned a great deal about the relationship
between our government and the people it is supposed to serve. Although in some
cases the government is not as responsive to the people as it should be, I believe

that we have an opportunity here to truly help a group of working Americans who
have earned our respect and our assistance.

Thank you very much.

Chairman Murphy. Thank you very much, Congressman Holden.

Also, I thank you for being one of our cosponsors of H.R. 2108,
which we hope will put us back on the right track.

If you will join us, we will have the next witness, Dr. John Mika
of Shenandoah, Pennsylvania.
Good morning, doctor, you may proceed.

STATEMENT OF JOHN J. MIKA, M.D., SHENANDOAH,
PENNSYLVANIA

Dr. Mika. Before starting, I would like to introduce myself. My
name is Dr. John Mika, and I am a lifelong resident of Schuylkill

County. I received my premed degree from Penn State University,
my medical degree from Jefferson Medical College in 1959. After
an internship at St. Joseph's Hospital in Reading, I served 2 years
as a Captain in the United States Army Medical Corps.

Since then, I have been in general practice in Shenandoah since

July of 1962. I am on the medical staff of the Pottsville Hospital
and the Ashland Regional Medical Center. I have also been the
elected coroner of Schuylkill County since 1984.

Because my medical practice is located in the center of the an-

thracite coal industry, I serve a large number of pneumoconiosis or

Black Lung patients. I have been recognized as an expert by the

local, the Federal, and also the United Mine Workers in pneumo-
coniosis.

Let me start by saying that COPD, or Black Lung, or chronic ob-

structive pulmonary disease is the fifth largest cause of death in

the United States, and it has been increasing rather than decreas-

ing over the past several decades.
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Another distressing figure is the fact that only approximately 5

percent of my patients that apply for Federal Black Lung are being
awarded the same. I have had several patients who applied for
Black Lung because they were instructed to do so by their employ-
er. After having the standard physical examination, the chest X-

ray, the pulmonary function tests, these men were awarded the
Black Lung disability, provided they stopped working within 1

year.
Since they could not subsist on the disability payments, they con-

tinued to work. Some men were reawarded 3 to 6 years later. Yet,

recently, when their health became so bad that they could barely
walk, they applied again, and this time they were rejected. Obvi-

ously, the criterion for Black Lung has become much more difficult

or rigid.
I would like to discuss another aspect of this disability problem. I

call this the quality of life. At the present time, men awarded this

Black Lung are virtually respiratory cripples, they are limited

physically to walking only short distances. They suffer from chron-
ic bronchitis and recurrent cardiac problems, especially congestive
heart failure.

The next Black Lung problem is the widow. I presently have two
widows whose Black Lung benefits are pending a review and possi-
ble court action despite the fact that Anthrasilicosis and emphyse-
ma were prominently listed on the death certificate. Because of

this, these widows will probably have to endure lengthy, extensive

legal problems. This new Act would eliminate these legal hurdles
and be a tremendous help to these ladies.

My last point to make concerns the role of the family doctor in

this. Many times, these front line doctors have been treating the
claimants for 30 to 40 years. Along comes a pulmonary specialist
who sees the applicant one time and makes the fatal diagnosis of

no Anthrasilicosis, and yet the one visit opinion is given more
claim than the opinion of his family doctor who as treated him for

many, many years. I would like to see that opinion and trend re-

versed, and more credence or preference given to the testimony of

the treating physicians for many years.
I would like to thank this committee for the opportunity to come

here and plead for the passage of this legislation. Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Dr. Mika follows:]

Statement of John J. Mika, MD, Shenandoah, Pennsylvania

Before starting, I would like to introduce myself. My name is John Mika, MD, and
a lifelong resident of Schuylkill County. I graduated in pre- medicine at Penn State

University in 1955, obtained an MD from Jefferson Medical College in Philadelphia
in 1955. After a 1 year general rotating internship at St. Joseph's Hospital in Read-

ing, PA, I served 2 years as a Captain in the United States Army Medical Corps.
After my discharge from the service I started in general practice of medicine in

Shenandoah, PA since July 1962. I am on the medical staff of the Pottsville Hospital
and the Ashland Regional Medical Center Hospital, and have been the elected coro-

ner of Schuylkill County since 1984.

Because my medical practice is located in the center of the anthracite coal indus-

try, I treat a large number of pneumoconiosis or Black Lung patients. I have been

recognized as an expert in COPD by the local and Federal courts and by the United
Mine Workers of America.
Let me start by stating that COPD is the fifth leading cause of death in the U.S.

and that it has been increasing rather than decreasing over the past several dec-

ades.



Another distressing figure is that only approximately 5 percent of my patients
presently applying for Federal Black Lung benefits have been awarded same.

I have had several patients who applied for Black Lung in the past decade. These
applications were submitted by order of the employers. After the standard physical
exam, pulmonary function and blood gas tests they were awarded the Federal Black

Lung benefits, provided they ceased working within 1 year. Not being able to subsist
on the Federal benefit these heroic men continued to work. In some cases these men
were reawarded the benefits 3 to 6 years later. However, when their physical condi-
tion deteriorated to the point where they could barely able to function, these miners
were rejected. Obviously, the physical requirements of the pulmonary function tests

have become much more rigid.
I would like to discuss another aspect of this disability problem. I call this the

quality of life. At the present time, men awarded this Black Lung disability are vir-

tual respiratory cripples. They are limited physically to walking only short dis-

tances, suffer from insomnia, recurrent bronchitis, and are subject to progressive
cardiac heart failure.

The next Black Lung problem is the widow. I presently have two widows whose
Black Lung benefits are pending a review and possible court hearing despite the
fact that Anthrasilicosis and pulmonary emphysema are listed prominently on the
death certificate. Because of this, these widows will probably be subjected to exten-
sive legal fees. This new Act would eliminate these legal hurdles and be of tremen-
dous help to these ladies.

My last point to be made concerns the role of the family doctor in these cases.

Many times, these "front line" doctors have been treating the claimant on a regular
basis for 30 to 40 years. Along comes a pulmonary specialist who after only one ex-

amination proclaims the opinion of NO ANTHRASILICOSIS and the one visit opin-
ion is given more credibility than the years of treatment by his family MD. I strong-
ly urge that this practice be reversed and the primary consideration be given to the

patient's treating physician of long standing.
I wish to thank this committee for the opportunity to appear here and plead for

the passage of this legislation. Thank you.

Chairman Murphy. Thank you, doctor. We may have one or two
questions to ask of you.
You handle a number of these black lung claims. Do you exam-

ine many claimants?
Dr. MiKA. Yes, sir.

Chairman Murphy. Are you aware of their success rate, what
percentage of your patients are awarded—half, or 25 percent. Do
you follow their claims through to the end. Do you have any knowl-

edge of how many of the claims are approved?
Dr. MiKA. Five percent.
Chairman Murphy. The General Accounting Office labeled the

standard, the blood gas test, the pulmonary function test, and
standards for X-ray evidence and physical exams used by them now
as being mandatory as reasonable requests. What do you think is

the best method of determining Black Lung, and do you use that
method?

Dr. MiKA. I feel the best method would be the standards that

they used in approximately 1982. As I have said, I have had pa-
tients who were awarded before and recently when they applied,

they were rejected, the same men, and this is a progressive disease.

Chairman Murphy. How do you detect your miner with Black

Lung, what physical test do you use?
Dr. MiKA. It is the physical examination, the chest X-ray, the

pulmonary function test and the blood gases.
Chairman Murphy. You take blood gases as well?
Dr. MiKA. Yes.
Chairman Murphy. It used to be that actually testimony from

their family physician was acceptable but now it is the weight of
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the evidence. Do you find that your patients are being run around
to different doctors, experts, or hospitals to get a single opinion?

Dr. MiKA. Yes.
Chairman Murphy. Are most of your patients treated that way?
Dr. MiKA. Yes.
Chairman Murphy. Mr. Fawell, do you have any questions?
Mr. Fawell. Just a few.

Doctor, first of all, your background is certainly tremendous, and
you are a family practitioner, obviously, and render a tremendous
service to the community.
You mentioned that only 5 percent of your patients presently ap-

plying have been awarded, given an award. Do you have any idea,
are other practitioners having the same type of a low percentage of
awards?

Dr. MiKA. I believe that I am exactly on the average, 5 percent.
Mr. Fawell. Do you see in the future, because of a greater

awareness of the effects of coal dust, and all the damage it can do,
et cetera, that there is going to be a decline in awards because of a

greater awareness as far as those working in the mines today are
concerned?

Dr. MiKA. Yes, and also attrition, we have less miners and they
are dying off faster.

Mr. Fawell. You also mentioned that along come pulmonary
specialists who, after only one examination, proclaim that there is

no problem, and they seem to be given greater weight by the ad-

ministrative judge; is that correct?
Dr. MiKA. That's correct, sir.

Mr. Fawell. Do you actually appear before the administrative

judge and give testimony so that he has an opportunity to see you
and you are subject to cross-examination?

Dr. MiKA. Sir, I usually appear and the specialist doesn't have to

appear.
Mr. Fawell. The specialist oftentimes doesn't appear?
Dr. MiKA. That's right.
Mr. Fawell. The administrative judges, are they local people, in

general?
Dr. MiKA. No. They are Federal judges from Wilkes-Barre, and

they bring them in from all over the country. Usually the specialist

presents his findings on a two- or three-page report, and he never
comes.
Mr. Fawell. I practiced law for 25 years and that puzzles me

why the court should just automatically seem to give greater recog-
nition to someone who calls himself a specialist. It seems to me
that you have the specialty that is so very rare these days of

having served for so many years in treating patients who suffer

from Black Lung disease.

Dr. MiKA. Sir, when I testify, the first question that is asked me
by the opposition is, am I Board certified in internal medicine, am
I Board certified in pulmonology, am I Board certified radiologist. I

know the routine, I have gone through it so many times, and they
lean toward the higher credentials academically.
Mr. Fawell. I think we see a lot of that these days. The fancy

resumes seem to speak for themselves in some way, at least in the

minds of some.
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Thank you very much for your testimony. I have read it and I

appreciate your points very much.
Chairman Murphy. If I might say, doctor, on page 5 of the bill,

which I am the principal sponsor and Congressman Holden has

joined us, states on line 11, "The opinion of a miner's treating phy-
sician, if offered in accordance with Paragraph 1(a) shall be given
substantial weight over the opinion of other physicians in deter-

mining the claimant's eligibility for benefits." I think you will be

happy with that paragraph.
Dr. MiKA. Very happy.
Chairman Murphy. Mr. Holden, do you have any questions?
Mr. Holden. At least one, Mr. Chairman.
Dr. Mika, one of the concerns about this piece of legislation is

that it will open up the door to fraud and abuse, and that the
Black Lung Program was never intended to be a pension program.
You said only 5 percent of your patients are awarded cases that

you professionally feel are entitled or are suffering from the dis-

ease. I am sure you and other physicians in the area have turned
down people who came to you and said, "I feel I am suffering from
Black Lung," and you rendered and examination and told them
that in your opinion that they are not entitled?

Dr. Mika. Yes. I probably accept about one-third of the people
who come looking for Black Lung to my office. If they don't have
the qualifications, I think, on the tests, I will not support them.
Mr. Holden. So, of all the people who come to you, only one-

third you feel suffer from the disease, and out of those one-third,

only 5 percent of those people are receiving awards?
Dr. Mika. Yes.
Mr. Holden. No other questions.
Chairman Murphy. Thank you very much, doctor, for being with

us this morning.
We have two attorneys with us this morning, and we will ask

them if they will jointly take the witness table. Attorney Lynne
Bressi and Attorney Marty Cerullo.

We have your prepared testimony and, if you would care to sum-
marize for us. Attorney Bressi.

STATEMENT OF LYNNE G. BRESSI, ESQ., POTTSVILLE,
PENNSYLVANIA

Ms. Bressi. Yes, good morning. I am pleased to be here this

morning to testify as a claimant's attorney regarding the Black

Lung Benefits Act, relate regulations which implement it, and the

many and various problems with those regulations.
I would like to spend some time introducing myself. My name is

Lynne G. Bressi, and I am an attorney and work for the law offices

of Charles A. Bressi, Jr. Attorney Charles Bressi has been a sole-

proprietor of a law firm since 1973, having law offices both in

North Umberland, in Schuylkill County, which are both in the
center of the anthracite coal industry.
Mr. Bressi began representing claimants who were seeking to

obtain benefits under the Federal Black Lung Act in 1974. His law
offices have continued that representation until the present time,
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and myself and his other associate attorney, Carolyn Marconis still

represent a large number of claimants seeking those benefits.

Since 1974, our offices have probably sought benefits for hun-
dreds of claimants, and about 40 percent of our yearly income is

still derived from fees from claimants successful in seeking Federal
Black Lung benefits.

Because of the firm's experience in representing claimants, in

November of 1989, Mr. Bressi's firm was asked to send a represent-
ative to the United States Department of Labor's Office of Admin-
istrative Law Judges' Conference in Florida to speak to them on
behalf of the Black Lung claimants.
Our Attorney Marconis attended, and at that conference she

voiced some of the same problems that the claimants were having
to those judges attending that conference. It is my belief that my
testimony today is based on a large body of experience and under-

standing of the claimant's needs, especially from those who are em-
ployed in the anthracite coal fields.

In summarizing my testimony, I basically focused on the fact

that those claimants seeking benefits do so under the Black Lung
Benefits Act. The primary number of claims are those of living
miners. However, there are some special problems for widows who
are applying for benefits which I would also like to make mention
of.

In my opinion, the problems with the present regulations are
that they have become too restrictive. When our law offices first

began representing claimants who were trying to obtain their bene-

fits, the Act was governed by the regulations found at 20 CFR 727.

In my opinion, those regulations should have been kept intact with
minor changes with regards to the diagnostic studies used to deter-

mine disability instead of promulgating the regulations now found
at 20 CFR 718.

The important difference was that the regulations found at 20
CFR 727 gave a miner who had worked in the coal mining employ-
ment for in excess of 10 years a presumption of having that dis-

ease. If a miner was able to establish that he had Black Lung as

per that presumption, the burden of proof then transferred to the

government or to the insurance company to show that that miner
did not deserve his benefits.

Unfortunately, in the beginning of the implementation of those

benefits, the program was young and the bureaucracy was also

young, and many individuals were given benefits that probably did

not deserve them. Then, under pressure from what I believe was
from the insurance companies, the regulations were overhauled,
and those regulations at 20 CFR 718 were implemented. Those reg-
ulations completely put the burden of proving that benefits are de-

served upon the claimant without regard to the known hazardness
of coal mine employment to the worker.

I don't come here today to tell you that every claimant who ap-

plies for benefits should receive them, but I believe that the scenar-
io of burden of proof under the 20 CFR 727 regulations was fairer

than those under which the claimants are now forced to apply.
Some of what I believe is the problem is what Dr. Mika talked

about, and is a game that I like to call which doctor do you believe,
and how many doctors will present evidence. As a player in this
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game, the claimants are immediately at a disadvantage as they do
not have the resources nor the funds to seek out numerous medical
opinions which support their position in trying to obtain benefits.
The game rules are, if you have six opinions, then I will get seven
opinions.
Almost all of the claimants who seek benefits do so as a result of

an examination by their family physician. They rely on that family
physician who examines them and regularly treats them, and that
is why they apply for benefits.

Many of those family doctors are just that, family practitioners.
These family doctors have individuals present themselves to them
for treatment. They make a diagnosis. They prescribe medicine,
and give their opinion as to what they believe is the cause of their
illness. The claimants depending on them apply for benefits.

Then, they find themselves overwhelmed by the numbers of doc-
tors that they will now have examine them, the number of diagnos-
tic laboratory tests that they will have to go under, and suddenly
that family physician upon whom they rely is looked down upon by
the administrative law judges who are presented with evidence
from doctors who specialize in pulmonary disease, have huge cur-
riculum vitaes and are paid by the insurance companies that are
asking them to evaluate the claimants.
Under the old regulations, there were specific ways that the gov-

ernment or insurance company had to use to show that the miner
who had worked 10 years in the coal mining industry did not de-
serve benefits, whereas the regulations at 20 CFR 718 has allowed
the government and especially the insurance companies to beat the
claimant into the ground with an overabundance of medical infor-
mation which does not really lend itself to making a fair determi-
nation as to whether that claimant deserves benefits.
The most blatant way that they abuse it is in the area of reread-

ing of chest X-rays. The most accepted way of determining whether
a claimant has coal worker pneumoconiosis is through chest X-ray
evidence. When they get an X-ray that has shown that he has coal
workers' pneumoconiosis, the insurance companies will send that

X-ray out to several doctors. In one of my cases, one X-ray has been
sent out to no less than 15 NIOSH B readers to prove that that
miner does not have coal workers' pneumoconiosis.
The insurance companies, unlike the claimants, have the staff

and funds to seek out those radiologists all over the United States
and have done so. At a minimal cost of $50 per rereading, you can
see that the claimant, who is elderly, sick, retired, and without a
great deal of funds can never compete.
However, in the majority of cases, unless an attorney can ad-

vance the funds for the extensive rereadings, the claimant goes
without, and the administrative law judge who is trying to deter-
mine whether the miner should get Black Lung benefits based on a
preponderance of the evidence finds that they are presented with
one or two positive readings, and 15 negative readings. The admin-
istrative law judge is compelled under the 20 CFR 718 regulations
to say that that evidence does not show that that miner has coal
workers' pneumoconiosis, not because he doesn't but because he
could not compete fairly with providing evidence.

70-264 - 93 - 2
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The man may have coal workers' pneumoconiosis, but did not
have enough funds or resources to obtain as many chest X-rays as
the insurance company. This is not fair, and I can't believe that
this is what the Black Lung Benefits Act envisioned in setting the
standards to determine who should receive benefits.
You cannot blame the insurance companies for obtaining these

rereadings, it is the fault of the regulations that allow this to
occur.

The game goes on in the other areas of objective medical testing
that the individual is required to have in order to qualify for bene-
fits. If he gets a breathing test that says, yes, he is disabled because
of the value, that test is sent out to doctor after doctor for what is

called a validation report, and those pulmonary specialists said,

well, that may have qualifying results, but it is not valid, so it

cannot be used as evidence. Again, the claimant doesn't have the
resources or the funds to compete.
What has happened is that we are, again, providing the medical

profession with income based on the disability of our American citi-

zens. Again, I do not fault the insurance companies for trying to

obtain these reports. Again, it is the requirements of the regula-
tions.

Not only does the miner have to go through test after test, he
now has to submit to examination after examination. If he finds a
physician other than his family physician who is a pulmonary spe-
cialist who says he had Black Lung and is disabled, then he is sent
to two more pulmonary specialists by the insurance companies who
will say he doesn't have a disabling disease.

In my opinion, the amount of rebuttable evidence that the gov-
ernment or insurance companies should be allowed to provide must
be limited. It is my belief that the fairest way to do that is to adopt
the type of regulation found at CFR 727. However, if those regula-
tions are found not to be adequate, then the limitation of medical
evidence must be a requirement for any new regulation.
The family physician who regularly treats that claimant must

have his testimony given greater weight. He has the opportunity to

look at his entire medical makeup, understand his job duties, and
can determine whether he believes he is truly disabled.

As I said in the beginning, there are some special problems that
deal with the widows' claims for Federal Black Lung benefits.

Again, with the promulgation of the new 20 CFR 718 regulations, if

a miner died who had been receiving Federal Black Lung benefits,
that widow is now required to file a claim of her own for those ben-
efits to continue. This requirement has caused more undue hard-

ship than could ever have been imagined.
These were women who depended on that income for sustenance,

and were not only destroyed by their husband's death but by the
loss of benefits upon which they had come to depend for their well-

being.
Under the old regulations, if a miner died who had been receiv-

ing benefits, those benefits continued for the widow. In my opinion,
that was much fairer. The theory behind changing the regulations
seemed to be that it was not fair for a widow to get Black Lung
benefits if her husband was killed by an automobile accident or
other type of traumatic occurrence. That sounded good.
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However, what happened by changing the regulations is that the
burden of proof upon the widow became almost impossible. She
now has to show the coal workers' pneumoconiosis was a signifi-
cant cause of her husband's death. This is almost impossible, and
litigation continues.

Most of the medical evidence available today shows that coal

worker pneumoconiosis is disabling and continues until the time of

death but usually does not cause death, so that even if a miner who
is unable to breath has other significant medical problems such as
heart disease or cancer, they are denied benefits simply because
that coal workers' pneumoconiosis wasn't the primary cause of the
miner's death.

My recommendations to change any of the regulations would be
to return to a rebuttable presumption burden of proof with more
realistic requirements that were used under the 20 CFR 727 regula-
tions.

Rebuttable evidence must be limited. One of the problems with
the 20 CFR 727 regulations that they were so liberal that they gave
a lot of benefits to people who did not deserve them. However, the
20 CFR 718 regulations have become too restrictive, and even

though their criteria for disability is higher, the burden of proof
upon the miner is impossible to meet.
This benefit program should not be another way to continue pro-

tracted litigation and put money in the pockets of specialty physi-
cians instead of providing needed benefits to those individuals who
worked in the hazardous employment. Anyone who has listened to

a bootleg miner tell you how he spent 11 hours a day underground
in a hole in which he could not stand up in order to make a

meager living for his family realizes that he should be compensated
now for any disabling illness that he may have contracted.

Anyone who has listened to a strip miner tell you how he spent 8

to 10 hours a day in one of the dustiest, dirtiest and noisiest envi-

ronments on the face of the planet, and how he must not know not

only about mining, but the skills of running huge machinery knows
that he also deserves to be compensated if, as a result of that em-
ployment, he becomes disabled.

I do not advocate handing out Black Lung benefits to every
claimant. However, we need to find a happy medium. Our under-

standing of the hazardness of that employment should make it

clear that there are more than the number of people who have
been disabled than are now receiving benefits, and it is not because

they are not disabled that they do not receive these benefits, but

they do not have the funds and resources to provide exorbitant
amounts of medical evidence to overcome the medical evidence
that will be provided against them.
Thank you for your kind attention.

[The prepared statement of Ms. Bressi follows:]
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TESTIMONY OF LYNNE G. BRESSI, ESQUIRE TO
THE U.S HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVE'S LABOR AND EDUCATION

COMMITTEE'S SUBCOMMITTEE ON LABOR STANDARDS
ON JUNE 21, 1993 IN POTTSVILLE, PENNSYLVANIA

Good Morning. I am pleased to be here this morning

testifying as a Claimant's Attorney regarding the Black Lung

Benefits Act, the regulations which implement it, and the many

and various problems with those Regulations. My name is Lynne

G. Bressi and I am an attorney and work for the Law Offices of

Charles A. Bressi, Jr. Attorney Charles Bressi has been a

sole proprietor of law firm since 1973, and he began repre-

senting claimants who were seeking to obtain benefits under

the Federal Black Lung Act in 1974. His law offices have

continued that representation until the present time, and myself

and his other associate attorney, Carolyn M. Marconis, still rep-

resent a large number of claimants seeking those benefits. Since

1974 our offices have probably sought benefits for hundreds of

claimants and about 40 percent of our yearly income is still

derived from fees from claimants successful in seeking Federal

Black Lung Benefits. Because of the firm's experience in repre-

senting claimants, in November of 1989 Mr. Bressi 's firm was

asked to send a representative to the United States Department

of Labor's Office of Administrative Law Judges Conference in

Florida to speak to them on behalf of black lung claimants.
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Attorney Marconis attended and at that conference she voiced

some problems that the claimants were having to those judges

attending that conference. It is my belief that my testimony

today is based on a large body of experience and understanding

of claimant's needs, especially those who were employed in

the anthracite coal fields.

As you probably know there are two types of claims for

benefits under the Black Lung Benefits Act. The primary number

of claims made are for living miners, those individuals who

have worked in the coal mining industry and are seeking benefits

for their illness. The other claims made under the Black Lung

Benefits Act are for widows who are seeking benefits as a result

of their husbands, upon whom they were dependent, dying as a

result of the disease that acquired as a result of coal mining

activities. Some of the problems with the implementation of

the present Act is the same for both of those types of claims,

however there are some special problems with the widows' claims

that I will be addressing separately.

When our law offices first began representing claimants

who were trying to obtain their benefits under the Act, the

Act was governed by the regulations found at 20 C.F.R.727. et.

seq. In my opinion the regulations found at 20 C.F.R. 727 should

have been kept intact with minor changes with regards to the

diagnostic studies used to determine disability, instead
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promulgating the new regulations which were implemented in 1980

and are found 20 C.F.R. 718. et. seq.

The regulations found at 727 were based on a rebuttable

presumption scenario in which an individual who could prove

that he had been a coal miner for at least ten years was presumed

to have coal workers' pneumoconiosis as a result of that disease.

In order to deny him benefits the government or responsible

operator's insurance company had to present evidence to rebutt

that presumption. If the miner could show ten years of employ-

ment, the burden shifted to either the government or a responsible

operator to prove that the miner did not deserve his benefits.

Unfortunately, in the beginning of the implementation of

the regulations found at 20 C.F.R. 727, the program was young

and the bureaucracy new and many individuals were given benefits

that probably did not deserve them. As a result, and under

pressure from insurance companies representing responsible

operators, the regulations were overhauled and those regulations

at 20 C.F.R. 718 were implemented. Those regulations completely

put the burden of proving that benefits were deserved upon the

Claimant, without regard to the known hazardous of coal mine

employment to the worker.

I do not come here today to tell you that every claimant

who requests that he receive Federal Black Lung Benefits should

be awarded them simply because he was a coal miner, however I

believe that the shifting of the burden of proof that was



19

established by the C.F.R. 727 was fairer than the present

system that the claimants are now forced to apply under. What

has happened is that the 718 Regulations have fostered a situation

in which the Administrative Law Judges are presented with the

game that I like to call "which doctor do you believe and how

many doctors will present evidence". As a player in this game

the claimants are immediately at a disadvantage as they do not

have the resources, nor the funds, to seek out numerous medical

opinions which support their position in trying to obtain benefits.

The game rules are "if you get 6 opinions, I'll get 7 opposite

opinions" .

Almost all of the claimants seeking benefits depend on

the information that they receive from their family physician

in trying to find out what is the cause of their shortness of

breath and inability to continue to do the physical activities

that they did in the past. Many of those family doctors are

just that, family practicioners , who see a range of individuals

and illnesses in their practice and do not specialize in pulmonary

diseases. These family doctors have individuals present themselves

to them for treatment, they make a diagnosis, and they prescribe

medicine and give their opinion as to what they believe is the

cause of their illness. Claimants, depending on these physicians,

make applications for benefits. If they've worked after 1969 and

an insurance company would be responsible to pay those benefits,
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the claimants find themselves overwhelmed by the numbers of doctors

that will now examine them, and the number of doctors who will

give opinions concerning the diagnostic laboratory tests that

they will be asked to take in order to obtain benefits. Suddenly

these family physicians are looked down upon by the Administra-

tive Law Judges when who are presented with evidence from doctors

who specialize in pulmonary diseases, have huge curriculum vitaes,

and are paid by the insurance companies that are asking them

to evaluate the claimants.

Under the 727 Regulations there were specific ways in

which the government or responsible operator had to prove that

an individual was not disabled from coal worker's pneumoconiosis

if he had obtained the presumption that he had the disease as

a result of ten years of employment as a coal miner. The methods

allowed by the regulations to rebutt that presumption gave the

government and the responsible operator sufficient means and ways

to rebutt that presumption if it could be rebutted, whereas the Reg-

ulations at 20 C.F.R. 718 has allowed the government, and especially

the insurance companies, to beat the claimant into the ground

with an over abundance of medical information which does not

really lend itself to making a fair determination as to whether

that claimant deserves benefits.

The most blatant way that the regulations at 20 C.F.R. 718

have fostered a new physician mini-speciality has been in the
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area of re-readings of chest x-rays as there is no pre-

sumption that an individual has coal workerr's pneumoconiosis

in the 718 regulations, it is necessary to determine whether

they have pneumoconiosis either by biopsy, chest x-ray, or an

opinion of a medical doctor giving a reasonable medical opinion.

The chest x-ray reading has become the primary tool utilized by

the judges because biopseys are not usually available and if a

doctor gives an opinion that a claimant has coal workers' pneumo-

coniosis solely by employment history, symptoms and other diag-

nostic information which does not include a positive chest x-ray,

it has been my experience that almost never does that claimant

have the chance of showing that he has coal workers' pneumoconiosis,

which is the first step to receiving benefits.

What has happened is that the insurance companies have

begun to pay a cadrey of radiologists to whom they send copies

of the chest x-ray films for re-reading, and receive back from

them reports saying that those x-rays do not show coal workers'

pneumoconiosis. The most accepted reader of chest x-rays for

the purpose of determining coal workers' pneumoconiosis is a

NIOSH "B"-Reader radiologist. The insurance companies, unlike

the claimants, have the staff and funds to seek out those

radiologists all over the United States and have done so. In

one case which I am presently handling the insurance company

has had one chest x-ray read no less than fifteen times. At

a minimal cost of $50.00 per re-reading, you can see that a
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claimant, who is probably elderly, sick, retired, and without

a great deal of funds, can never compete. In fact it is almost

impossible for claimants, and claimants' attorneys, to seek

out and find independent B-Readers who will read chest x-rays

on behalf of claimants. It is true that if a claimant is

successful in getting benefits, his litigation costs will be

reimbursed to him. However, in the majority of cases, unless

an attorney can advance the funds for the extensive amounts

of re-readings, the claimant does not have the funds to get

those chest x-rays re-read in the first place. Thus when he

presents his case to an administrative law judge, who is trying

to make a determination as to whether the individual has black

lung, based on a preponderance of evidence, and that adminis-

trative law judge is presented with one or two positive readings,

and fifteen negative readings, the administrative law judge is

compelled under the 718 regulation's burden of proof to say that

the evidence does not show that the miner has black lung - not

because he doesn't but because he could not compete fairly with

providing evidence.

The man may have coal workers' pneumoconiosis but did not

have enough funds or resources to obtain as many chest x-rays as

the insurance company. This is not fair. It certainly is not

a good use of the insurance companies monies either but I do

not blame them for attempting to obtain re-readings. Is is the

fault of the regulations which allow this to occur.
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Under the burden of proof requirements under 727, this

did not occur. For those individuals who could not prove

ten years of coal mine employment, chest x-ray evidence was

extremely important. However a lot of time and resources are

now being used to obtain chest x-ray re-readings which really

do not tell the story.

The "game" is now being expanded in the area of pulmonary

function studies. Part of the 718 Regulations allows for what

is called a "validation" of a pulmonary function study in order

to be considered as proper evidence. Again, when a claimant

has a pulmonary function study that meets the requirements under

the 718 Regulations to show total disability, the insurance

companies immediately begin to hire doctor after doctor to

provide validation reports giving various reasons as to why

those breathing tests should not be considered valid pulmonary

function studies. Again, the claimant does not have the

resources or funds to seek out several pulmonary physicians

simply in order for them to review one pulmonary function

study over and over for validity. What has happened is that

we are again providing the medical profession with income

based on the disability of our American citizens. Again,

I do not fault at the insurance companies for trying to

obtain these validation reports as it may mean the difference

to their companies paying benefits. However, I blame the regu-

lations found at C.F.R. 718. The "game" is also continued with



24

physician exams with the claimant being examined by physician

after physician to counter his personal physician's opinion.

If he has two physicians who say he is disabled, he will be sent

to three insurance physicians.

It is my opinion that the amount of rebuttal evidence

that the government or insurance company should be allowed

to provide must be limited. It is my belief that the fairest

way to do that is to adopt a type of regulation found at

C.F.R. 727 instead of promulgating new regulations that will

simply limit the numbers of evidence that can be provided by

both sides. The 727 regulations gave clear steps as to how

an individual could be found not to deserve benefits which

included looking at his work history, his old job duties, the

physical requirements of any job he presently had, the physical

requirements of his coal mine job as well as the reliance on

medical testing. It also included a look at his entire medical

make-up instead of just at tests to determine simply his pulmonary

abilities .

As I said to you before there were some special problems

that dealt with the widows' claims for Federal Black Lung Bene-

fits. Again, with the promulgation of the new regulations at

20 C.F.R. 718, if a miner dies who had been receiving Federal Black

Lung Benefits, the widow is now required to file a claim of

her own for those benefits to continue. This requirement has

caused more undue hardship than could ever have been imagined.

These were women who depended on that income for sustanence and

were not only destroyed by their husband's death, but by the
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loss of a benefit upon which they had come to depend for their

well being.

Under the old 727 Regulations, if a miner died who had

been receiving benefits, those benefits continued for the widow.

In my opinion this was much fairer. The theory behind changing

the regulations seem to be that it was not fair for a widow to

get black lung benefits if her husband was killed by an auto-

mobile accident, or some other traumatic occurance which had

nothing to do with his physical health. That sounded good,

however what happened by changing the regulations is that

then the burden of proof upon the widow became almost impossible.

She now has to show that coal workers' pneumoconiosis was a

significant cause of her husband's death. This began a whole

new litigation procedure and again more money for speciality

physicians who would work for insurance companies.

Most of the medical theory available today shows that

coal workers' pneumoconiosis is disabling but usually in and

of itself does not cause death. What it does is destroy the

pulmonary system which in fact can cause many other functions

of the body to deteriorate. Also, if an individual is unable

to breathe properly as a result of coal workers' pneumoconiosis,

when he gets any other life threatening disease, such as heart

disease or cancer, his chances for surviving are lessened by

the fact that he has a severe pulmonary disability. However,
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even though the 718 regulations made it sound that it would be

fair and would not overly burden the government and insurance

companies paying widows for benefits when their husbands were

killed by traumatic incidents, it has prevented deserving widows

from receiving those benefits to which they were entitled

because again they did not have the funds or resources to play

the medical evidence "game".

My recommendations to change any of the regulations for

Federal Black Lung Benefits would be to return to a rebuttable

presumption burden of proof with more realistic requirements

than was used for the 727 regulation as to what the would be

to rebutt that presumption. Rebuttable evidence should be limited.

One of the problems with the 727 regulations was that they were

so liberal that they did give benefits to some individuals who

may not really have been disabled from the disease. The criteria

for qualifying arterial blood gas studies and pulmonary function

studies required in the 718 regulations could easily be trans-

ferred to a rebuttable presumption burden of proof which would

give both the claimant and the insurance companies the proper

protections for making a fair decision concerning whether an

individual was entitled to those benefits. This benefit program

should not be another way to continue protracted litigation

and put money in the pockets of specialty physicians instead

of providing needed benefits to those individuals who worked



27

in a hazardous employinent . Anyone who has listened to a

bootleg miner tell you how he spent eleven hour days under-

ground in a hole in which he could not stand in order to

make a meager living for his family realizes that he should

be compensated now for any disabling illness that he may

have. Anyone who has listened to a strip miner tell you how

he spends eight to ten hours a day in one of the dustiest and

noisiest environments on the face of the planet and how he

must know not only mining but the skills of running huge mach-

inery, knows that he also deserves to be compensated if as a

result of that employment he becomes disabled. I do not advocate

handing out black lung benefits to every claimant whom applys.

However, we need to find a happy medium from the overly liberal

727 regulations and the overly restrictive 718 regulations. It

is not right that less than 25 percent of claimants who apply

for Federal Black Lung Benefits receive them. Our understanding

of the hazardness of that employment should make it clear that

there are more than that number of people who have been disabled

from the disease, and it is not because they are not disabled

that they do not receive benefits, but that they do not have

the funds and resources to provide exorbitant amounts of medical
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evidence to overcome the medical evidence that will be provided

by the insurance companies as a result of the proof requirements

under the 718 regulation.

Thank you for your kind attention.

RespectfyLJrly submitted,ctfu41

f/iceeLAW OFFICES OF CHARLES BRESSI, JR.

BY:
BRESSI

NEY AT LAW



29

Chairman Murphy. Thank you, Attorney Bressi.

We will ask you stay with us at the table until we hear from At-

torney Cerullo, and we will ask you both questions at the same
time, recognizing, however, we have two attorneys and we will

have two different opinions, usually.
Ms. Bressi. Of course.

Mr. Fawell. At least.

Chairman Murphy. Mr. Fawell and I are both attorneys.
Mr. Cerullo, please.

STATEMENT OF MARTIN J. CERULLO, ESQ., FRUMKIN, SHRALOW
& CERULLO, P.C, POTTSVILLE, PENNSYLVANIA

Mr. Cerullo. Thank you.
Chairman Murphy, Congressman Fawell, Congressman Holden,

your respective staffs, and members of the public, good afternoon.

My name is Martin Cerullo and I am an attorney with the law
firm of Frumkin, Shralow & Cerullo here in Pottsville, Pennsylva-
nia. I appreciate the opportunity to appear before this subcommit-
tee public hearing this afternoon on behalf of employers in the an-

thracite industry.
I will comment briefly on H.R. 2108 and more generally on the

Black Lung system as a whole. We appreciate this subcommittee

visiting the anthracite region, and particularly compliment the
Sixth District's own Congressman Holden on facilitating this hear-

ing.

Though the entire coal industry has some concerns about the po-
tential economic impact of H.R. 2108, I will focus solely on the an-

thracite industry. I think it is important this afternoon to distin-

guish between the coal industry and what is left today of the an-

thracite industry.
As I believe Chairman Murphy indicated at the outset, I do re-

quest that my written statement be made a part of the subcommit-
tee's formal record of its consideration of H.R. 2108, and I will not
bore those of you who are here who have copies of my statement
with reading it literally but will attempt to summarize it.

I would suggest that it is not my client's intention today either to

deny benefits to those who are truly eligible, or to disagree with
what I heard Chairman Murphy say in his introductory comments
is the stated goal of H.R. 2108, which is to expedite the Black Lung
process.
However, we do disagree and would make some alternative sug-

gestions as to the relationship between the contents of H.R. 2108

and its serving the intended purpose of expediting the process.
If I may for a moment focus on the major issue addressed in my

written comments, which is the provision for reopening all claims

since 1982. As I indicate in my comments, considering the coal in-

dustry as a whole, there were 86,000 denied claims since 1982. I

would point for a moment to the swing in the legislation which has

transpired over time where the standards for eligibility have been

whipsawed back and forth between very restrictive and very liber-

al.

In 1977, when there were amendments adopted to the Black

Lung Act which allowed for the reopening of the cases which had
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been heard since the initial adoption of the legislation in 1969

through 1977, the statistics bear out that 70 percent of the cases
were reopened.
We would suggest that if the goal of this subcommittee is to ex-

pedite the processing of the 100 open cases Congressman Holden
talked about in his opening statement, the appropriate measure to

do that is not to allow the reopening of all the claims which have

already been addressed.
Assume for the moment that only 10 percent of those 86,000

claims are in the anthracite area, that may be realistic given the
relative number of employees in anthracite versus all the bitumi-
nous fields, and assume that the 1977 experience is not repeated,
but let's say that only 20 percent of the claims are reopened, 10

percent of 86,000, we will just round it down to 8,000, and 20 per-
cent of that is 1,600 claims.

I would suggest to the committee that anyone—not today's audi-

ence which is familiar with the Black Lung system, but anyone not
familiar with the system would not buy into the notion that the
means of expediting the handling of the 100 open cases is to add
another 1,600 cases to the docket to be reopened. That is a signifi-

cant part of the objection that we express on behalf of the anthra-
cite industry this afternoon.

In addition to the clogging of the docket, the administrative ex-

penses, even before you get to the question of whether the change
of eligibility standards will result in higher awards, the administra-
tion and litigation expenses will be quite significant.
The National Coal Association has estimated the administrative

costs to the coal companies of reopening claims at $3,000 per claim.

My personal feeling is that number may be on the low side but,

again, take the hypothetical 1,600 cases I suggested a moment ago,

apply $3,000 per case to each of those 1,600 cases, and the impact
on the anthracite industry would be devastated.
We also comment in the written comments about the changes in

the standards, the liberalizing of the standards, and the limitation

on evidence. Again, we recognize as a prudent goal, expediting the

process. We would suggest that it is not necessary, in order to expe-
dite the process, to have the pendulum swing in the opposite direc-

tion and go overboard in liberalizing the standards and impose by
this proposed Act a limitation on the number of physicals that can
be submitted for one side which is unequal to that which can be
submitted for the other. We do not think that that will serve the

goal of expediting the process.
What is it that we might suggest because it is not our position to

sit here today and simply be negative on the subject, if the concern

is, in fact, that the administrative law judges are giving dispropor-
tionate weight and emphasis to one type of medical evidence versus

another, we would suggest that that be dealt with head-on, perhaps
funds might better be spent in additional training or developing
the expertise of the administrative law judges.

If the docket moves much too slowly, and it is not in the coal

company's interest to have a Black Lung claimant have to take 3

to 5 years to receive benefits because that damages the coal compa-
ny because the intermediary in all this, the insurance company, es-

tablishes large reserves for those claims, they realize the earnings



31

on those reserves, and the coal company simply has its balance
sheet and its strength depleted in the mean time awaiting the out-

come of all those cases.

It is not in my client's interest to have claims delayed either, if

what is necessary to expedite claims is to increase the number of

administrative law judges who are available to hear these claims,
we would suggest that that, perhaps, ought to be the subcommit-
tee's emphasis. But, again, swinging the pendulum in terms of the
standards of eligibility is not what will address the stated concerns

underlying this legislation.
There was also a comment in the opening comments about anti-

fraud protection. Recognizing that today's rate of approvals are at
a low level, the 5 percent that was discussed during Dr. Mika's tes-

timony is accurate, we are concerned that if the standards are

greatly liberalized, then some attention ought to be given to the

question of anti-fraud protection for the companies and the in-

sureds.
I had the opportunity to hear the Attorney General of Pennsyl-

vania speak a week or so ago. He talked about legislation he
pushed through the General Assembly in Harrisburg to create anti-

fraud provisions in the Pennsylvania Workmen's Compensation
Legislation. Unfortunately, he has not yet received a legislative ap-
propriation to attempt to implement that legislation, but his esti-

mate is that 20 to 25 percent of the cost of administering the Work-
er's Compensation Program in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania
is as a result of fraud and abuse of the program. We would request
that the subcommittee, if you are going to consider expanding the

eligibility requirements, also consider some means of controlling
against that becoming a problem in the administration of the Black
Lung Program.

I would like to comment very briefly, again, on my opening state-

ment that it is important to distinguish between the anthracite in-

dustry as it remains in existence today and what is the national
coal industry, because there is not that much, unfortunately, of the
anthracite industry left.

As we pointed out in our written comments, the Federal Black
Lung Program, as administered here in Pennsylvania, from a
Workman's Compensation rate perspective, is run under the aus-

pices of the Pennsylvania Insurance Department and the Pennsyl-
vania Coal Mine Compensation Rating Bureau. That Rating
Bureau is a creature of statute which is essentially a consortium of
the companies which write Workman's Compensation Insurance in

Pennsylvania.
We would ask that you reflect upon the fact that what remains

of the anthracite underground mining industry—and here I will

distinguish between underground and surface mining, and these
are based on the statistics of the Coal Mining Compensation Rating
Bureau, is a mere 10 employers in the category of insured employ-
ers.

While three are more enterprises than 10 engaged in under-

ground mining here in the anthracite area, the others beyond those
10 are either partnerships where the only working employees are

partners and so exempt from the requirements of having insurance

coverage, employers who may operate illegally by not having
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Workman's Compensation coverage, or possibly self-insured busi-

nesses, though it is rather unlikely that there are any anthracite
mines currently operating on a formally State-approved self-in-

sured basis.

The present Workman's Compensation rates for underground an-
thracite mining in Pennsylvania obligate employers to pay $109 in

Workman's Compensation premium for every $100 of wages paid.
That was not a mistake. The Workman's Compensation premium
exceeds the amount of wages paid. An industry subject to that type
of burden can ill-afford the cost and expense of reopening 10 or
more years of Black Lung claims which have already been adjudi-
cated.

For the anthracite surface industry, the battle is to avoid the
same economic disasters suffered by the underground industry. In
the Pennsylvania Coal Mining Compensation Rating Bureau's most
recent request for a rate increase on anthracite surface Workman's
Compensation rates, the anthracite surface rates increased on aver-

age by over 21 percent which brings the total Workman's Compen-
sation rates for anthracite surface to, on average, $57 for every
$100 of payroll.

In 1991, the anthracite industry's total production was 3,182,000
tons of coal produced by a mere 1,164 employees. That compares to

peak production during World War I of 100 million tons a year,
and World War II levels of 60 million tons per year, with those ton-

nages produced respectively by 160,000 employees and 60,000 em-

ployees.
The anthracite industry cannot afford added financial burdens,

particularly any which are not supported by a match between the

legislation and the public policy sought to be implemented. The
five county area here in Northeast Pennsylvania, where anthracite
is still produced, can ill-afford the further loss of jobs which would
result from an increase in financial burdens on the anthracite in-

dustry if the Black Lung Program were allowed to become too lib-

eral an entitlement program.
For all the foregoing reasons, we respectfully request the sub-

committee reconsider H.R. 2108, taking into account the comments
presented both orally and in writing today on behalf of the indus-

try, and not adopt legislation which would liberalize and slant evi-

dentiary standards for claimants, or provide a blanket reopener for

cases previously closed.

We also request continued monitoring of the functioning of the

Black Lung system to assure that it serves its intended purpose
and is not subjected to abuse.

Again, I thank you for the opportunity to speak to you this after-

noon.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Cerullo follows:]
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INTRODUCTION ;

Chairman Murphy, Congressman Ho Iden, Congressitian Fawell, other

members of the Subcommittee, your respective staffs and nembera of

the public. Good afternoon. My name is Martin J. Cerullo, and I am

an attorney with the law firm of FrumXin, Shralow & Cerullo in

Pottsville, PA. I appreciate the opportunity to appear before this

Subcommittee public hearing this afternoon on behalf of Reading

Anthracite Company, BlaschaX Coal Company, and other employers in

the anthracite industry. I will comment briefly on HR 210S, the

Black Lung Benefits Act, and more generally on the Black Lung

system as a whole.

We greatly appreciate this Subcommittee visiting the

anthracite region and particularly compliment the 6th District's

own Congressman Holden on facilitating this public hearing. Though

the entire coal industry has concerns about the potential economic

impact of HR 2108, as indicated by the position of the National

Coal Association, which we support, I will focus solely on the

anthracite industry. I request that my v/ritten statement be made

a part of the Subcommittee's formal record of its consideration of

HR 2108.
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COMMENTS ON HP 2 IPS;

On behalf of the anthracite industry, we respectfully request

that the Subcominittse closely scrutinize Sectior, 3 of HR 2108, and

the proposed amendments to Section 422 of the Act, which would

revise subsections (m) (l) (A) and (B) and (m) (1) (4) . We do not

believe that there is sound public policy support for limiting the

permitted number of medical examinations to be placed in evidence;

providing the claimant the opportunity to bring forth three medical

examinations while the defending operator or tne Fund is limited

to two; or for providing a presumption in favor of the claimant's

doctor, even if the expert on the other side is equally qualified.

The most strenuous objection which the industry wishes to

present this afternoon to HR 2108 pertains to Section 8 captioned

"Refiling". The legislation as drafted would allow for any claim

filed under the Black Lung Benefits Act after January 1, 1982, but

before the date of the enactment of this Act, to be refiled after

the date of enactment of this Act for a de novo review on the

merits (and subject to the new evidentiary standards of HR 210S) .

We strongly suggest that there is no sustainable public policy

rationale for approving such a reopener provision. All that will

do is cause companies and the Fund to bear the cost of relitlgating

cases which have already been determined adversely to the

claimants. Such added expense for coTiipanies which are in a

2
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struggling industry is particularly unsupportable at a time when

entitlement programs as a whole are detrimental to the fiscal well-

being of the Federal government.

While it is not the intention of my clients to deny benefits

to those who are entitled to benefits based on verifiable health

conditions suffered as a consequence of their employinent, it is in

fact my clients' desire to nake it clear that the Black Lung system

is not intended to be a form of pension or entitlement program, and

should not be treated or adninlstered as such. Claimants who have

already been denied benefits on the merits, should not be able to

reopen their cases as much as 10 or 11 years later.

We would ask the Subcomniittee to recognize that there were

approximately 86,000 denied claims since 1982. If all of those

claims are permitted to be reopened, particularly with revised

standards of proof and presumptions, the defense costs alone will

be enormous. It should be noted that the coal industry funds the

entire Black Lung program, even though a large portion of the

benefits are paid by the Federal Black Lung Disability Trust Fund

(since the Trust Fund is funded through the excise tax on coal) .

Again, the Black Lung program should be treated as an occupational

disability program, not as an automatic Federal entitlement

program .

3
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COMMENTS ON BLACK LUNG SYSTEM IN GENERAL!

A significant problem with the Black Lung system ae it

functions today is that its intended purpose is not being achieved.

Ongoing appeals frustrate claimants who may be in need of their

benefits, and only add to the litigation and insurance expenses of

companies in a system which, as an aspect of workmen's

compensation, is supposed to be designed along the philosophical

approach of minimizing or eliminating litigation. Other testimony

today has pointed out the delays and expense associated with

protracted litigation. I would like to make it clear that the

anthracite coal conpanies agree with claimants in that regard - it

is not in the conpanies' best interest to prolong litigation with

insurance conpanies simply passing through all of the defense costs

to the coal companies.

We would respectfully request that any amendments to the Black

Lung Benefits Act take into account the latest scientific evidence

concerning conditions in which surface miners work today. In light

of the regulations of the Mine Safety Health Administration, and

the Department of Labor dust testing standards, we would subnit

that employees first employed in surface mining subsequent to 1970

cannot contract anthracosilicosis, because they will not have the

duration and extent of exposure to coal dust necessary to suffer

4



37

Fruinkin,Shralow&CeruIlo

from such illness. This proposition has been accepted by this

insurance industry, for the standard actuarial analysis of the

occupational disease portion of coal workirej-i ' s compensation

policies now excludes from the potential risk of black lung

employees under 38 years of age, as not capable of having the

exposure necessary to contract the illness. From its inception, the

Black Lung Benefits Act, was a response to a societal health

problem concerning the nature of the coal industry at a time prior

to the industry's current condition. Recognition of the application

and enforcement of the D.O.L. dust standards and MSHA regulations

should change the legislative response by Congress to the problem,

and militates in favor of stabilizing or lessening the Black Lung

benefits burden on employers, not increasing that burden.

We would request that the Subcominittee recognize that the

Federal Black Lung program is administered here in Pennsylvania,

from a workmen's compensation rate perspective, under the auspices

of the Insurance Department and the Pennsylvania Coal Mine

Compensation Rating Bureau. In your consideration of HR 2108, as

it bears on the anthracite industry, we would ask that you reflect

upon the fact that what remains of the anthracite underground

mining industry, according to the Coal Mine Compensation Rating

Bureau, is a mere 10 employers in the category of insured

employers. While there are more enterprises than that engaged in

5
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underground mining in the anthracite area, the others beyond those

ten are either partnerships where the only working employees are

the partners, and so are exempt from the requirements of having

insurance coverage; eirploysrs who operate illegally by not having

workmen's compensation insurance; or, possibly, self-insured

businesses (though it is unlikely that there are any anthracite

mines currently operating on a formally approved self-insured

basis). The present workmen's compensation rates for underground

anthracite raining in Pennsylvania obligate employers to pay $109

in workmen's compensation premium for every SlOO of wages paid! You

heard me correctly - the workman's compensation premium exceeds the

amount of wages paid. An industry subject to such burdens can ill-

afford the cost and expense of reopening 10 years of black lung

claims which have already been adjudicated.

For the anthracite surface industry, the battle is to avoid

the economic disaster suffered by the underground industry. In the

Pennsylvania Coal Mine Compensation Rating Bureau's most recent

request for rate increase on anthracite workmen compensation rates,

the anthracite surface rates increased on average by over 21%,

bringing the total workmen's compensation rates to, on average, $57

per $100 of payroll. In 1991, the anthracite industry's total

production was 3,182,000 tons - produced by 1,164 employees. That

compares to peak production during World War I of 100,000,000 tons

6
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in a year and World War II levels of 60,000,000 tons per year,

produced, respectively, by 160,000 and 60,000 employees. The

anthracite industry cannot afford added financial burdens,

particularly any not supported by sound public policy or public

health reasons. The five county area here in Northeast Pennsylvania

where anthracite is produced can ill afford the further loss of

jobs which would result from an increase in financial burdens on

the anthracite industry if the Black Lung program is allowed to

become too liberal an entitlement progran.

CONCI^USION;

For the foregoing reasons, we respectfully request that the

Subcommittee reconsider HR 2108 taking into account the comraents

presented today on behalf of the industry, and not adopt

legislation which would liberalize and slant evidentiary standards

for claimants or provide a blanket reopener for cases previously

closed. We also request continued monitoring of the functioning of

the black lung system to assure that it is serving its intended

purpose and not being subjected to abuse.
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Chairman Murphy. Thank you very much, counselor.
Have either of you had a chance to read the section 3 in the pro-

posed H.R. 2108?
Ms. Bressi. I have not, Your Honor.
Chairman Murphy. You have to get your congressman to send

you a copy of that.

Ms. Bressi. I will.

Chairman Murphy. What we do in there is attempt to expedite
the claims by expediting and limiting the amount of evidence that
is necessary to prove the claim. Perhaps, Attorney Bressi, after you
have read that, we could have perhaps a letter from you indicating
your comments on it.

Also, Attorney Cerullo, if you would do likewise. You say you are
interested in expediting the claims, see what you think about our
evidence because, incidentally, under the proposal, we would revert
to the widows being entitled to claim benefits under the husband's

previous approved claim, and she would not have to go through the
additional process, the way it has been since 1982.

Mr. Cerullo, what is your estimate, are you in accord with ap-

proximately 5 percent of claims being approved?
Mr. Cerullo. Yes, I am, congressman. I agree with that.

Chairman Murphy. It seems as though it is a pretty standard ac-

ceptance. Don't you think that is an extremely low percentage of

all of the miners who then find it necessary through their doctor
and attorney to go, that is an unusually low percentage of approv-
al?

Mr. Cerullo. The 5 percent is a small percentage of 100, but
from a medical standpoint, I am not qualified to answer your ques-
tion as to whether 5 percent is a correct figure based on the evi-

dence that is submitted and the true medical condition of the em-

ployees. I can't answer that.

I can say, as I attempted to say in my comments, that it is not

our intention to deny benefits to those who are eligible. To the

extent that the denial is based on the medical evidence, that would
be appropriate. If the denials are incorrect because the medical evi-

dence is either somehow subject to too restrictive a standard or is

somehow being skewed by the administrative law judges in their

perception of it, I am not objecting to attempting to correct that.

I think, however, that section 3 as currently drafted, which indi-

cates that a claimant may submit three medical examinations and
the employer or the fund may only submit one each, which, I

guess, would be two, if both the fund and the employer are active

in the proceeding, does not necessarily serve the objective of expe-

diting the process, but merely gives the claimant more medical re-

ports to submit than it does those who are defending against the

claim.
Chairman Murphy. Supposing we reduce that to two for the

claimant and two for the
Mr. Cerullo. I think, at least, if the legislation were, on its face,

to equalize the treatment, I would suggest that that is better than
what is before me in section 3 at this point.
Ms. Bressl If I could comment, the problem is not just with the

numbers. If you reduce it to two and two, we still have the problem
with that the miner is depending on his family physician, who is
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usually a family practitioner, and it still allows the insurance com-
panies, who are really the people who perpetrate this problem
moreso than the Department of Labor, the chance to, again, get
physicians who have curriculum vitaes who outshine any family
practitioner that that miner ever could have examine them.
The Department of Labor usually uses local physicians with

some of the same experience as the practitioners in the area that
the miner lives. Our problems have not usually been with the un-
fairness of the opinions provided by the Department of Labor doc-

tors, but rather by the insurance companies.
Talking with Mr. Cerullo before this, I think he and I were in

agreement that the insurance companies are charging outrageous
Workmen's Compensation rates holding that money in reserve, and
yet are only paying benefits to 5 percent of the claimants who
apply. The minute that claimant applies, the coal mine employer
must put money into reserve. So somebody is making money and it

is not the employer and it is not the miner.
Chairman Murphy. Thank you.
Mr. Fawell, do you have any questions?
Mr. Fawell. Yes, Mr. Chairman. Thank you.
There are a lot of ramifications to the suggested legislation. Let

me center in on the comments which were made by Mr. Cerullo in

regard to expedited legislation that can move the cases along. It

seems to me that if we have 86,000 denied claims, and then open
them up again, I don't know how many would refile claims, but
that certainly would be contrary to the idea that we want to make
sure that the people who are filing claims are going to have expe-
dited proceedings and won't have to wait 4 or 5 years. That is one
part of the legislation that I would question greatly, especially also
in light of the fact that the Black Lung Fund is about $3.2 billion

already in debt. They had to borrow because the contributions to

the fund simply hasn't been sufficient.

What would be your reaction to that, Ms. Bressi?
Ms. Bressl In some situations, that is a shadow issue of sense.

Under the present regulations, a miner who is still living can
always file another claim. There has been case law that went all

the way up to the Supreme Court which is the Luckman case,
which said that miners that now feel that their health is even
worse than it was before, even if they have been denied in the past,
can reopen their claim under the 20 CFR 718 regulations. So some
of those 86,000 claims that they say would be reopened, there still

is the possibility under the present regulations to allow for that re-

opening. Those that may be most effected would probably be the
widows' claims where they only get one bite at the apple. They
can't come back, and that may be the situation that should be

open.
My opinion is, if there were 86,000 claims denied unfairly be-

cause of restrictive regulations and we do, indeed, have a signifi-
cant proportion of those individuals entitled to benefits, the burden
on the trust fund will have to be dealt with. These people should
not be denied benefits that they deserve, and it is going to have to

be something that is dealt with.

Many of these claims also will not be a burden on the trust fund
because they will oc those who were miners working after 1969 and



42

it will be the insurance company who will be responsible for the
benefits. So I don't believe that it will be a burden that would de-

stroy the trust fund, nor would it be improper to reopen those
claims.
Mr. FaWELL. But you would say that the greater problem would

be for the widows who have no recourse to reopen their claims, but
others do have that potential right now?
Ms. Bressl Yes, under the 20 CFR 718, they could.
Mr. Fawell. I guess, as a lawyer, and I think probably my col-

league, Mr. Murphy, would agree, we always look at evidentiary
rules, changing them, and I think all of us attorneys would say, we
have to look at that very, very carefully. When I look at the previ-
ous presumption, as I understand it, the 10 years of giving service
as a miner in the coal industry would, as we lawyers say, ipso
facto, that would mean you would have a presumption of Black
Lung disease.

Yet, it seems to me, as you fix those rules of evidence, the future
is going to be fortunately much less in favor of that presumption
now that we are able to avoid younger miners having to face that
kind of a problem. So I have some reticence about putting into law
an evidentiary rule that we all realize is going to be less and less

necessary. That is just one observation that I would have.
As an attorney, I would be very interested in being educated by

both of you in reference to the Workmen's Compensation laws, and
how they relate to the Black Lung disease laws, Federal laws. As I

understand when the concept came into being in 1969, it was on
the basis that we were going to have the State Workmen's Compen-
sation laws, or we expected State Workmen's Compensation laws to

take over in this area and recognize Black Lung disease as certain-

ly being a disease that comes about very often as a result of one's

employment. That hasn't occurred. I am not quite sure why it

hasn't occurred.
But in Pennsylvania, I understand, you do recognize Black Lung

disease as an employment related Workmen's Compensation mode
of recovery. Mr. Cerullo, I think you indicated some rates of recov-

ery as far as the underground anthracite coal industry that would
equal $109 for every $100 of pay?
Mr. Cerullo. That is the rate charged to the coal companies for

their insurance policy, it is not exactly the rate of recovery, al-

though the rates are impacted by the rate of approvals of Federal
Black Lung cases and the insurance companies' estimate of the
likelihood of recovery.
Underground surface mining right now in Pennsylvania in the

anthracite fields pays, in its rate, $109 of Workmen's Compensation
premium for every $100 of payroll that they pay to their employ-
ees; and on the surface mining side of the anthracite industry, it is

$57 in Worker's Compensation premium for every $100.
As I understand it, the interrelationship of your core question is

Black Lung to the Worker's Compensation system. In Pennsylva-
nia, the State Workmen's Compensation law does recognize coal

miners' pneumoconiosis as an occupational related disease. There
is a means of recovering a State Black Lung benefit. My under-

standing is that those benefits are not offset against one other.

Ms. Bressl Yes, they are.
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Mr. Cerullo. They are, okay.
Ms. Bressi. They would be offset. The Federal benefits would

end, if the miner was awarded a State occupational pension, which
is better because the State occupational disease is based on two-
thirds of his last usual rate of pay.
The problem has
Mr. Fawell. Excuse me, I want to make sure I hear you correct-

ly, then. In Pennsylvania, a recovery under the State law will

offset the Federal obligation?
Ms. Bressi. Yes.
Mr. Fawell. In fact, I gather, the recovery, by and large, is usu-

ally greater; is that correct?

Ms. Bressl No, not necessarily. The problem being that under
the Federal regulations, if you have gone on to another employ-
ment—let's say you were a miner for 20 years, you got out of that,

left, we know what the status of the anthracite industry is now,
and you went on to a job as a bus driver, you went on to a job
somewhere else. You now retire. You cannot get Workmen's Com-
pensation even if you are disabled as a result of coal worker's

pneumoconiosis because that wasn't your last job. You haven't
worked in that in over a year. So you have to have worked in the

industry that you are collecting occupational disease for within the
last year, or you are not going to be able to apply for benefits. So
that is why there isn't more occurring.
But there are usually simultaneous filings, if that was your last

employment, and if you are successful under the Workmen's Com-
pensation, and both of them, they will offset the Federal and you
will just get paid the State insurance benefits.

Mr. Fawell. There is no allotment insofar as a widow is con-

cerned under your Workmen's Compensation State Laws?
Ms. Bressl Yes, but the burden is the same. She would have to

be somebody who
Mr. Fawell. There is a widows'
Ms. Bressi. Yes, you can file as a widow under the State Work-

men's Compensation Occupational Disease Act, you can file a claim
if your husband died as a result of that occupational disease and
had been employed within 300 weeks of when he got the benefits,
or when he died.

Mr. Fawell. I assume you would have to show a causal connec-
tion then?
Ms. Bressi. Yes. No, just exposure.
Mr. Fawell. Just exposure?
Ms. Bressi. Yes. As long as the exposure to that contaminant

under the Occupational Disease Act has occurred within the last

year or so of their employment or when you applied, or their death
occurred within 300 weeks of that last exposure, you can file for

benefits. It is just an exposure requirement, it is not a causality. It

is different than the Federal causality requirements.
Mr. Fawell. Mr. Cerullo, do you have some comments?
Mr. Cerullo. The one comment I wanted to make, I don't dis-

agree at all with Attorney Bressi's description of the system. The
one comment I would like to make is, what you said was, in 1969
when the Black Lung Program was devised, it was devised along
the model of a workers' compensation system. I would suggest that
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here in Pennsylvania, unfortunately, our workers' compensation
system suffers from the same deficiency as the subcommittee is

identifying with the Black Lung Program. The principal tradeoff in
the design of a workmen's compensation system is that for the em-
ployer, they are shielded from suits by their employees for occupa-
tional-related harm or disease; for the employee, it is intended to
be an expedited means of recovery for that injury or disease. The
expedited part of the recovery just isn't happening, either in Penn-
sylvania or with the Federal Black Lung Program.
My suggestion to the subcommittee is that altering the evidentia-

ry standards won't solve that problem. If you want to focus on
making the system work faster, you just have to make the system
work faster.

Mr. FaWELL. I would agree with you insofar as expedition is con-
cerned. It is not going to help to throw 86,000 or 46,000 or 10,000
more claims, and the claims, as I understand it, are now as low as

they have ever been, so that, as bad as it might be in terms of

having to wait, whatever that may be right now, I gather it is prob-
ably the best it has ever been, and that is something that we can
count as a positive point. I thank you very much.

Just one other point, Ms. Bressi, you have indicated, though, that
insofar as the widow is concerned under the State Workmen's Com-
pensation Law, her ability to recovery is relatively limited then to

this more recent exposure proof?
Ms. Bressi. It is very limited because, again, it is really, though,

a burden of proof. I disagree that changing the evidentiary require-
ments would not expedite it because the reason it hasn't been expe-
dited is because of the getting of evidence, who requires it, and all

that kind of situation is the reason the claims have dragged on,
and it has gone longer and people are denied. But I think that the
widow does not have it easy under the State or the Federal Work-
men's Compensation scenarios.
Mr. FaWELL. Mr. Chairman, may I have just one more question?
Chairman Murphy. Go ahead.
Mr. Fawell. You have been very kind in letting me go on here,

but we are looking at a disability program, and I have not made a

study on this. I probably should know more about it than I do, but
a disability, obviously, we all know what that is, and compensation
flows as a result of the fact that one has a disability.

It is not a pension. It is a disability. Therefore, what are your
reactions to then prolonging or adding to a disability program the

right of recovery of one's heirs, one's widow, one's children, for in-

stance. Is that wise as a public policy matter, does that distort or

hurt the basic aim of the disability program, which is to give funds,
of course, to the one who is disabled, not to those who are not dis-

abled, physically disease-wise disabled?
Ms. Bressl In the era of trying to retain the family unit, I would

say that it is wise public policy to tie an heir's recovery into the
disabled worker's. We need to do that.

Mr. Fawell. Where are we doing it elsewhere?
Ms. Bressl We are doing it under the Social Security Act, if

there is a disabled individual who is receiving Social Security Dis-

ability, his widow can get benefits under that. His children, if he
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has died as a result, are able to continue to receive benefits until

they are age 18. We do it in other areas.

If we are talking about a disability that now keeps that individ-

ual from gainful employment to continue their family and not

cause them to be a burden to our welfare system, then it makes

very good sense then to have a program that is an alternative to

that which may allow them to have other abilities to earn some

money and to pay into the taxes to help with those kinds of situa-

tions.

Mr. Cerullo. If I may respond as well, I think that your ques-

tion, congressman, is one that requires heightened scrutiny at a

point in time when the Federal Government, as a whole, is starting
to recognize that entitlement programs have a serious negative

impact on the Federal budget as it bears in this trust fund. I recog-

nize, along with you, that that question needs to be scrutinized.

If I could also use your question as an opportunity to comment
on section 4 of the bill, which addresses survivor benefits, if I am
reading that correctly—and if I am not. Congressman Murphy, per-

haps you can correct me—but I understand the bill to say that the

survivor's benefits would be payable not only in the case where the

decedent was receiving benefits, but also in the case where the de-

ceased miner was totally disabled by pneumoconiosis at the time of

his death which, I take it, means but there hasn't yet been an adju-
dication of the award of benefits. If I am correct, that is a relative-

ly new standard that does not exist in the current law and, again,
that may be contrary to the goal of expediting the litigation that

exists in this so-called "non-litigation" environment, because then
we will have litigation about whether the person was, in fact, total-

ly disabled, even though they were not collecting benefits.

So, again, I think there is some tension between the goal of

trying to achieve a faster processing in the system versus changing
the evidentiary standards.
Mr. FaWELL. What about Workmen's Compensation for someone

who is totally disabled, passes away, what about the children and
the spouse?
Ms. Bressl It doesn't pay for it. You must, again, file a claim as

a widow, and the standard is the same as under the Federal, that

they have to show that the disease significantly contributed to the

cause of death. If they were receiving benefits, it stops, it does not

continue.
Mr. Fawell. I guess that is where all of us have all kinds of

public policy questions that come before us, but one is a little bit

reticent to pass on disability payments without means testing, at

least, to someone else.

In many cases with widows of miners, I recognize that that fi-

nancial need may be there, and it may be a very fine thing to do,

but it is a question that we do have to look at.

Thank you very much, your testimony has been very good.
Chairman Murphy. I might say for just a moment that, of

course, we have philosophical differences, but I believe in the

widows' claim much as we do in the Old English tort law which

prevails today. If an accident or an injury causes the death of a

person that you have financial relationship with, then, obviously,

you have a cause of action, and it is the same as we are attempting
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to do here, to protect the widows' rights only if it is the cause of
the miners' disability and early death. We feel the benefit should

pass to the widow much as it does under your State Workmen's
Compensation Law.

If the man is killed at work, that day he is killed, the widow has
his claim. The same thing should exist in the Black Lung law.
Mr. Holden, do you have any questions?
Mr. Holden. One brief question, Mr. Chairman. I do wish to ad-

dress it to Ms. Bressi, but Mr. CeruUo certainly can answer if he
wants to. We receive numerous requests in my office for us to rec-

ommend an attorney for the claimant in the case, and since we
want to remain friends with the entire bar, we do not do that.

There seems to be a big complaint that it is difficult to find an at-

torney to represent a claimant in a Black Lung case. Is there any
reason for that and, if so, what are the reasons?
Ms. Bressi. I think that probably one of the biggest reasons is

that it is so bureaucratically hard to get success rate. Of course,

your fees are tied into that success rate, but after you have been
successful, you get to have someone question your fee, and many
attorneys believe that that is unacceptable for the amount of work
it takes to find the resources now available.

The problem is also that you need to be a specialist in the Black

Lung area in order to be successful, and many attorneys are realiz-

ing they are over their head. They don't understand the new evi-

dentiary requirements. They don't understand the regulations and,
as they should, then they say, "I really can't represent you because
I don't really understand what it is all about."
Mr. Holden. Is there a set fee, or can you bill per billable hour,

which is the usual procedure?
Ms. Bressi. Usually you must do a billable hours, and those must

be submitted to either the administrative law judge or the Depart-
ment of Labor Office. The problem is, if I billed the Department of

Labor, and I tell them that it took me a half-an-hour to review the

file, write a letter and do some work, they will write back to me
and say, "I am not going to pay you for a half-an-hour, I am only
going to pay you for 15 minutes because that is how long I think it

should have taken."

Now, they are not attorneys, they don't know the case. The
claimant doesn't object, but then they object to that. So that is

what most attorneys find a problem with having either their rates

that they are charging, or the amount of time, or how long they
think they should have taken in doing the work that was done.
Mr. Holden. Mr. Cerullo?
Mr. Cerullo. If I could comment on that, and it is not to dis-

agree because we don't actively litigate Black Lung cases, our role

is more from the perspective of general counsel to the coal compa-
nies advising about how the system works, but I recognize the prob-
lems that Attorney Bressi points out.

I would suggest, however, that in a situation where you have a

governmental fund which may be 50 percent of the paying party on

claims, I believe the most recent statistics show that about 50 per-
cent of the claims were the responsibility of the fund and about 50

percent the responsibility of private parties. You are probably not

going to get away from a system that requires both the submission
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of detailed billing, and then the inherent questioning of that billing
that always occurs, which is not to say that the billing is suspect,
but to pick up on what Congressman Murphy said at the outset of

our comments, if you get two lawyers, you are likely to have two
different opinions. If you have anybody look at a lawyer's bill, you
will likely have a question about that bill.

If I could suggest a proposed response to your concern about
their being a lack of counsel, the single largest problem, which is

the one that this subcommittee might be able to address is the

length of time it takes to handle a case. If it is going to take 3 to 5

years to get a recovery, fewer people are going to be willing to do it

than if it is a shorter process, and then that leads us back into my
comments about what might be designed to expedite the system
versus what doesn't have that effect.

So that is the one thing, congressman, I think you might be able

to focus on, that you will have more people if the system is less

bureaucratically intense, and you can get through it faster.

Ms. Bressi. I have to say that I have no problem with the fee

process of the government in this. I would recommend that it be

kept as it is, and that, if there is any change, it may be an en-

hancement of the usual hourly rate that is charged, but I think
that submitting a fee petition is the way it should be, and I am just

telling you why I think some lawyers don't take them, not that I

disagree with the system as it is.

Mr. HoLDEN. Thank you.
Chairman Murphy. Thank you very much. It was very enlighten-

ing.
We have a final witness, Mr. Dan Yakubisin, and he is an official

of the United Mineworkers of America.
Mr. Yakubisin.

STATEMENT OF DAN YAKUBISIN, FINANCIAL SECRETARY,
UNITED MINEWORKERS OF AMERICA LOCAL 803

Mr. Yakubisin. Thank you very much, Mr. Fawell, Austin

Murphy and Mr. Holden. I was asked to come here on behalf of the

United Mineworkers of America, which I am doing here. I will give

you my name and address. My name is Dan Yakubisin, and I am
from Hazleton, Pennsylvania. I am 76 years old, and I have spent
46 years of my life working in the anthracite business in extreme
conditions and continue to the present day in my capacity as a Fi-

nancial Secretary of the United Mineworkers of America.
In my first years, gentlemen, of my life, which were 17 years I

spent in a coal mine approximately, I would say, 2,200-2,300 feet

underground, under drastic conditions, and those conditions existed

until the present time, in 1955, when Hurricane Hazel came and it

was flooded, that was the end of the operations there. God believe

me, that was the best thing that ever happened because those con-

ditions in that mine were so bad at the time, dust—you had to go
into work and put vaseline in your eyes or you would never be able

to come out, and the young ladies would look at you, being a young
fellow, and say, "Are you putting mascara in your eyes." That was

just a little drop in that I said.
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In my time being down there, one time at 1,800 feet, we had a
terrific explosion from dust and four miners were killed, about
seven of them injured, and I have taken numerous people out of
the mines in my time, in 17 V2 years, in that operation.
They never had anything to hold the tops up in the working con-

ditions then. Imagine being down in a hole, drilling the hole up
into that wall there going up at an angle, say 65 feet pitch. You
drilled it, you fired it. It took you 2 years to approximately go up
300 feet. Then you opened it up. You opened it up as wide as this

room here and walked in there with no timber, tried to explode it

to have that ceiling come down to bring the coal down into the
shoots. Bad, very bad conditions. When the top came down, some-
times the men were caught in there. They had nowhere to run and
they lost their lives, bad top, not enough props, and so forth and so

on. That is my opinion there.

An abundance of health problems face the anthracite worker,
dangerous and unhealthy conditions from Black Lung were wide-

spread in many cases. These cases went unrecognized, no matter
how you look at it, they were untreated, and they would take Black

Lung cases in the early days, and then even in underground physi-
cians would testify, but they would only get a percentage of those

people that they would get with Black Lung, the rest were rejected.

Many workers could not take the time off for the numerous doc-

tors visits. They were asked to pay for them, incidentally. They had
no money. The working conditions in and around the anthracite

operated 3 days. If you got 5 days a week, that was an excellent

condition. They actually worked 3 days a week in the mine indus-

try. So you could not get enough money to go and try to fight your
case, which they had to pay their own.
So they wound up being in a hospital and where could they run,

they had nothing else to do. Very often, in my role, I am a finan-

cial secretary of the local for 22 years, I accepted that job in my
younger days. Thank God, with the help of God, I am still main-

taining that job as financial secretary, collecting $1.25 off all these
retired poor souls of pensioners.
What do they do, they come to my home and they say, "Mr. Ya-

kubisin, why can't I get Black Lung, why did they turn me down?"
Those poor fellows come in wheelchairs, they can't walk. I have to

help them up and down in my home, practically carry them out to

their car. Yet, no avail, they can't receive Black Lung.
I have had an occasion where I worked with a fellow, I happened

to be on a big piece of equipment. After 1955, I seeked extra em-

ployment, went with a big coal mining company, and went on one
of the world's biggest electric shovels, 2 years in the making to put
it together, seniority gave me the right to stay on it.

Well, the conditions that that shovel did really was amazing.
This shovel would dig from Mother Earth down 200 feet in approxi-

mately 55 seconds. It would come up with 160 tons of debris or coal,

sling it out, throw it out on to a bank called a spill bank, and those

poor souls that were taking that spill bank away just literally
choked up there. You couldn't see them. Yet they were denied
Black Lung after 20 years, 22 years. I, myself, had 46 years, and 17

underground and 25 on top of Mother Earth.
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So that is why I am here, to try to make you people understand
that no matter how they do it, my opinion is, if the man works
more than 10, more than 12 years, more so if he has 20 years, he
cannot work anymore, he is disabled. Why is this man being
turned down for Black Lung?

I would not believe that if you could stay in that environment for

20 years and somebody would say, "I am sorry, sir, you are in good
shape, you do not have Black Lung," that is not so. I can't believe
it. I worked in it. I spent 46 years of my life there, gave it to it. Are
you to tell me, a doctor, that I don't have Black Lung if I am in it

every day of my life?

That is my testimony here.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Yakubisin follows:]

Statement of Mr. Dan Yakubisin, Financial Secretary, United Mineworkers of
America, Local 803, Hazleton, Pennsylvania

My name is Dan Yakubisin and I am from Hazleton, PA. I am 76 years old and I

have spent 46 of those years working in various aspects of the Anthracite mining
business. My experience in the anthracite business is extreme and continues to the

present day in my capacity as financial secretary for United Mineworkers Local 803.

I spent the first 17 V2 years of my working life working underground for Lehigh
Valley Coal. I started out as an oiler then a motor patcher and eventually was a
motorman. Conditions underground at this time were deplorable. Very often we
would be 1,800 feet underground and then drilling upward 200-300 feet and using
explosives to bring down the walls. Workers were exposed to excessive amounts of
dust and gas and I saw many of my co-workers become sick and some even die. On
one particular day four of my fellow workers were killed in an explosion and the
number of years taken off their lives is not easily estimated. We would work with
our eyes covered with vaseline to avoid the dirt and dust.

In 1955 the severe flooding hit Pennsylvania and the mine in which I worked
flooded and was closed. I went to work as a driller in an open pit mine. This job was
extremely dusty and very often the drill was run without water resulting in further

damage to lungs and eyes. I later took a job in a strip mine operation and worked a
shovel with a capacity of 160-ton pick up.

Health Problems Facing Anthracite Workers

An abundance of health care problems faced the anthracite worker. Dangerous
and unhealthy conditions abounded. Black lung was widespread and in many cases
went unrecognized and untreated. Many physicians would not take black lung cases
and in the early days there was even an underground economy whereby physicians
testifying would get a percentage of the awards. That practice does not exist now,
but deterred many people from applying years ago. For many years the ratio of
those receiving to those applying for black lung benefits was minimal. Many work-
ers could not take time off for the numerous doctor visits required. In many cases
miners would file a claim for black lung benefits, be rejected, appeal the rejection,
be denied once again and told not to come back only to end up hospitalized shortly
thereafter with pulmonary problems.

Current Exposure to Black Lung Problems

Very often in my role as financial secretary for the local United Mine Workers
Union I come in contact with retirees who are unquestionably suffering from black

lung. Many of their retirees are in nursing homes or hospitals and some are unable
to walk across a room and are bedridden due to the disease. In many cases these
men filed for black lung at a time when very few of the applicants were being ac-

cepted. I believe that there should be some recourse for the men. I thank you for

your time and I am willing to answer any questions you might have.

Chairman Murphy. You look pretty healthy for 76.

Mr. Yakubisin. Thank you very much. I sure do appreciate that.

I am one out of 55 persons, Mr. Murphy, that is alive. I am five.

The rest of them are deceased.
Chairman Murphy. The ones you worked with?
Mr. Yakubisin. Pardon?
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Chairman Murphy. The ones you worked with.

Mr. Yakubisin. When did I work with them?
Chairman Murphy. No, the fellows you worked with out of the

55.

Mr. Yakubisin. How long am I working, I spent 25 years in the

deep strip mine, and all those gentlemen that I worked with, there

are only five left out of about 60 of them. I could name them,

younger, way younger than me. They are deceased. Maybe I am
here to try to help these poor souls that have Black Lung. That is

why I am here to testify.

I was asked to do it, and here I am. I will answer any question
that I can tell you about the conditions to the best of my ability.

Chairman Murphy. Thank you.
Mr. Fawell?
Mr. Fawell. I appreciate your testimony, and I guess the one

point I could arrive at a conclusion on would be the fact that the

presumption that when one has worked many years in the mines
that one, therefore, suffers from Black Lung disease. This is cer-

tainly rebutted by your youthful appearance and your obvious

vigor and obvious good health. But I do appreciate very much your
viewpoint in regard to those who have worked with you and, obvi-

ously, many of whom did contract Black Lung disease.

Do you have any words of wisdom as how, indeed, you were able

to avoid the disease. Did you wear a mask every day that you went
down there, or take special precautions, because you are good evi-

dence of the fact that you can work for many years and come out

healthy?
Mr. Yakubisin. Let me tell you something, my dad died in my

arms as a coal miner, and the doctor that participated in keeping
him alive said, "Your dad will die from miner's asthma. He has no

other condition but that." But he said: What is keeping him alive is

every day mom would walk up to him and say, dad you want your
little medicine, and he took one shot of Canadian Club, or some of

the cheaper liquor and he drank that every night. Thank God, I

have a few bucks that I could take two shots a day.
Mr. Fawell. Does that cure Black Lung?
Mr. Yakubisin. Yes, I have Black Lung, I can't breathe too good.
Chairman Murphy. Mr. Holden?
Mr. Holden. Mr. Chairman, no questions.
I would just like to thank Mr. Yakubisin for coming down here

and presenting his testimony.
Mr. Chairman, I have several written statements that I would

like to present for the record.

Chairman Murphy. Yes, Mr. Holden, you had mentioned that to

me last week, and if there is anyone here, we will keep the record

open, if there is anyone here who would like to have their remarks
or letters submitted as part of the official congressional record of

this hearing, if you will get them either to my office as Chairman,
or to Congressman Holden's office, he will see that they reach my
subcommittee office, and without objection the letters you now
have, and the ones that you secure in the next 20 days will be sub-

mitted as part of the official record.
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Mr. HoLDEN. Thank you.
Chairman Murphy. With that, the hearing is concluded.

[Whereupon, at 1:22 p.m., the subcommittee was adjourned.]
[Information referred to above is on file at the subcommittee

office.]

[Additional material submitted for the record follows:]
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